RECEIVED

OCT 09 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM BAMBERG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-CP-05-63  
Appellate Case No. 2016-002156

Janette Buchanan and Shana Smallwood, Individually  
and as Co-Personal Representatives of the Estate of  
James S. Buchanan, .....

Respondents,

v.

The South Carolina Property and Casualty Insurance  
Guaranty Association,.....

Petitioner.

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON CERTIORARI**

Does South Carolina Code section 38-31-100(1) require that the statutorily-mandated offset be deducted from the Association's statutory maximum claim limit of \$300,000?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 7, 2008, James S. Buchanan was involved in a motor vehicle accident in Bamberg, South Carolina, with a vehicle driven by Eddie R. Best and owned by Travis Scott. (App. 19–20). James Buchanan died at the scene of the accident. (App. 19–20). Scott’s vehicle was insured for \$1 million by Aequicap Insurance Company (“Aequicap”). (App. 20).

Janette Buchanan, individually and as Personal Representative of Mr. Buchanan’s Estate (“Buchanan”), initiated a wrongful death lawsuit against Best and Scott. (App. 19–20). During the pendency of the wrongful death action, Aequicap was declared insolvent by the courts of Florida. (App. 20). As a result of Aequicap’s insolvency, Buchanan asserted her claim against the South Carolina Property and Casualty Insurance Guaranty Association (the “Association”) as provided by South Carolina Code section 38-31-60. (App. 20).

On April 12, 2013, while the wrongful death action was pending, Buchanan and a co-personal representative of James Buchanan’s estate filed a declaratory judgment action alleging the Association was obligated to pay \$300,000 pursuant to the South Carolina Property and Casualty Insurance Guaranty Association Act (the “Act”) and was not entitled to receive credit for payments already received by Buchanan from other insurance policies. (App. 17–21).

In 2014, the parties settled the wrongful death action. (App. 20, 56–66). As part of the settlement agreement, the parties stipulated that the amount of damages sustained by Buchanan is \$800,000 and that she recovered a total of \$376,622 in settlement proceeds from co-defendants’ insurance and Workers’ Compensation benefits. (App. 20–21, 62–63). The parties further agreed that the liability of the Association, if any, would be determined in the declaratory judgment action based on the parties’ stipulations. (App. 64).

The Association moved for summary judgment in the declaratory judgment action on April 22, 2014, asserting that the Act entitles the Association to deduct the \$376,622 offset from its \$300,000 statutory maximum claim obligation, thus eliminating the Association's liability. (App. 27–30). Buchanan filed a cross-motion for summary judgment on May 14, 2014, asserting that the Association's offset should be deducted from the full amount of the damages prior to any application of the statutory limit. (App. 31–33).

The circuit court held a hearing on the cross-motions for summary judgment on May 28, 2014. (App. 135–72). On September 10, 2014, the circuit court granted Buchanan's motion for summary judgment and denied the Association's motion for summary judgment. (App. 8–16). The circuit court held that the Association's offset must be deducted from a claimant's total damages amount rather than the statutory cap. (*Id.*). The court denied the Association's motion to reconsider on January 22, 2015. (App. 6–7).

The Association appealed, and the Court of Appeals affirmed in a published opinion filed on July 13, 2016. *See Buchanan v. S.C. Prop. & Cas. Ins. Guar. Ass'n*, 417 S.C. 562, 790 S.E.2d 783 (Ct. App. 2016). This Court granted certiorari to review the Court of Appeals' decision.

### **ARGUMENT**

The issue in this case is one of statutory interpretation, which is a question of law. *Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 355, 782 S.E.2d 590, 592 (2016). This Court reviews questions of law de novo, *Lambries v. Saluda Cty. Council*, 409 S.C. 1, 7, 760 S.E.2d 785, 788 (2014), and “is free to decide [the issue] without any deference to the tribunal below,” *Duke Energy*, 415 S.C. at 355, 782 S.E.2d at 592.

**I. The plain meaning of section 38-31-100 is that the “amount payable” on a covered claim must be \$300,000 or less, and the setoff is therefore deducted from the \$300,000 statutory maximum.**

This Court must answer one question: which value serves as the starting point for the setoff required by South Carolina Code section 38-31-100(1)—the total amount of the plaintiff’s alleged damages, or the \$300,000 statutory maximum provided for in South Carolina Code section 38-31-60(a)? Buchanan argues, and the Court of Appeals found, the starting point is her total amount of alleged damages—the \$800,000 settlement. The Association argues the starting point is the \$300,000 statutory maximum amount of recovery provided by South Carolina Code section 38-31-60. The Court of Appeals and Buchanan ignore key words in the statute and fail to adhere to the rules of statutory interpretation. The Association’s argument, however, gives effect to the plain meaning of all the words in the statute, and this Court should therefore adopt the Association’s interpretation.<sup>1</sup>

The Association is a nonprofit unincorporated legal entity created by the South Carolina legislature in 1956 pursuant to the Act. *See S.C. Prop. & Cas. Ins. Guar. Ass’n v. Brock*, 410 S.C. 361, 365–66, 764 S.E.2d 920, 922 (2014); *S.C. Prop. & Cas. Ins. Guar. Ass’n v. Carolinas Roofing & Sheet Metal Contractors Self-Insurance Fund*, 315 S.C. 555, 557, 446 S.E.2d 422, 424 (1994); *Builders Transp. v. S.C. Prop. & Cas. Ins. Guar. Ass’n*, 307 S.C. 398, 406, 415 S.E.2d 419, 424 (Ct. App. 1992). The Association is “composed of persons who are licensed to transact insurance by the Insurance Department and who write certain types of insurance in South Carolina.” *Carolinas Roofing*, 315 S.C. at 557, 446 S.E.2d at 424. The purpose of the Association “is to

---

<sup>1</sup> The parties do not dispute that the Association is entitled to offset Buchanan’s \$376,622 recovery from other insurance coverage pursuant to section 38-31-100. The only dispute is whether that offset applies to Buchanan’s total alleged damages or to the Association’s statutory maximum obligation.

provide some protection to insureds whose insurance companies become insolvent.” *Id.* Because the Association was created by statute, its duties, liabilities, and obligations are controlled by the terms and conditions set forth in the Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 38-31-60; *see also Brock*, 410 S.C. at 365–66, 764 S.E.2d at 922; *Builders Transp.*, 307 S.C. at 406, 415 S.E.2d at 424.

“The primary rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the General Assembly.” *Brock*, 410 S.C. at 367, 764 S.E.2d at 922; *see also Anderson v. S.C. Election Comm’n*, 397 S.C. 551, 556, 725 S.E.2d 704, 706–07 (2012) (citing *Beaufort Cty. v. S.C. State Election Comm’n*, 395 S.C. 366, 718 S.E.2d 432 (2011)); *Builders Transp.*, 307 S.C. at 404, 415 S.E.2d at 423 (looking to the South Carolina General Assembly’s intention in adopting an act to determine the meaning of the act’s provisions).

“What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. Therefore, courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature.” *Brock*, 410 S.C. at 367, 764 S.E.2d at 922 (citing *McClanahan v. Richland Cty. Council*, 350 S.C. 433, 438, 567 S.E.2d 240, 242 (2002)); *see also Anderson*, 397 S.C. at 556–57, 725 S.E.2d at 707 (“When a statute’s terms are clear and unambiguous on their face, there is no room for statutory construction and a court must apply the statute according to its literal meaning.” (citing *Mid-State Auto Auction of Lexington, Inc. v. Altman*, 324 S.C. 65, 476 S.E.2d 690 (1996))). “Thus, [courts] must follow the plain and unambiguous language in a statute and have ‘no right to impose another meaning.’” *Brock*, 410 S.C. at 367, 764 S.E.2d at 922 (citing *McClanahan*, 350 S.C. at 438, 567 S.E.2d at 242). “In construing statutory language, the statute must be read as a whole, and sections which are a part of the same general statutory law must be construed together and each one given effect.” *Anderson*, 397 S.C. at 556, 725 S.E.2d at 707 (citing *Beaufort Cty.*, 395 S.C. 366, 718 S.E.2d 432, and *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 533 S.E.2d 578 (2000)).

**A. The Court of Appeals misread the Act and conflated the provision that applies to regular insurance claims with the provision that applies to workers' compensation claims.**

The Court of Appeals erred by misreading the Act when it stated that “if the Legislature had intended the statutory cap to be reduced by the recovery, it could have drafted [§ 38-31-100(1)] to read ‘the Association’s *obligation* under this chapter must be reduced by the total recovery.’ However, instead, the Legislature said that ‘the *claim* must be reduced by the total recovery.’” 417 S.C. at 569–70, 790 S.E.2d at 787. The Court of Appeals fails to recognize, however, that the reference to the “claim” in section 38-31-100 refers to payments for workers’ compensation claims only. This is not a workers’ compensation claim. Thus, the language relied upon by the Court of Appeals has no application to this case. The reasoning for its decision is flawed and must be overturned.

Workers’ compensation policies are treated differently under the Act because they do not have set limits and the statutory maximum obligation does not apply. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 42-5-10 (requiring employers to secure payment of all compensation to employees required by Title 42); S.C. Code Ann. § 38-31-60(a)(iv) (explaining the \$300,000 statutory maximum does not apply to workers’ compensation claims: “However, the association shall pay the full amount of any covered worker’s compensation claim.”). Section 38-31-100 is no exception. The first clause of section 38-31-100(1) does not apply to workers’ compensation policies because it refers to policy limits: “any amount payable on a covered claim under this chapter must be reduced by the full limits of such other coverage as set forth on the declarations page and the association shall receive a full credit for such limits.” S.C. Code Ann. § 38-31-100(1). This clause calls for a reduction of “any amount payable on a covered claim”—or the Association’s obligation—which can never be more than \$300,000 under the Act. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 38-31-60(a)(iv).

The second clause of section 38-31-100(1), in contrast, applies *only* to workers' compensation policies because it refers to policies with "no applicable limits." S.C. Code Ann. § 38-31-100(1). Specifically, the second clause provides, "or, where there are no applicable limits, the claim must be reduced by the total recovery." *Id.* This clause cannot refer to an offset against the statutory maximum obligation because the Act expressly excludes workers' compensation claims from the statutory limit.

Therefore, the Court of Appeals failed to properly interpret the plain language of the Act when it held the General Assembly's use of the word "claim" means that the offset should be applied against the total amount of the covered claim in this case. To the contrary, the General Assembly's use of the word "claim" when referring to workers' compensation claims where the statutory maximum is not applicable, while expressly limiting the Association's payment to "any amount payable on a claim" for all other policies where the statutory maximum applies, demonstrates that the General Assembly intended for the offset to be applied against the Association's maximum obligation in cases like this one. Hence, the Court of Appeals erroneously interpreted the Act, and its decision must be reversed.

**B. The plain language of the Act requires that the offset be deducted from the \$300,000 maximum on the Association's liability under the Act.**

The Association "is obligated to the extent of claims existing before the determination of insolvency." S.C. Code Ann. § 38-31-60(a). Section 38-31-60 further provides that "the [A]ssociation . . . is considered the insurer to the extent of its obligation on the covered claims and, to this extent, has all rights, duties, and obligations of the insolvent insurer as if the insurer had not become insolvent." S.C. Code Ann. § 38-31-60(b). Section 38-31-60 refers to the duties and obligations of the Association; therefore, the plain meaning of subsection 31-38-60(b) is that the

Association “is considered the insurer to the extent of [*the Association’s*] obligation on the covered claims.” *Id.*; *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 38-31-60(d) (providing the Association “shall investigate claims brought against the association and adjust, compromise, settle, and pay covered claims to the extent of the [A]ssociation’s obligation” (emphasis added)).

A “covered claim” is defined by the Act as “an unpaid claim, including one of unearned premiums, which arises out of and is within the coverage and is subject to the applicable limits of an insurance policy to which this chapter applies issued by an insurer, if the insurer is an insolvent insurer.” S.C. Code Ann. § 38-31-20(8). However, the extent of the Association’s obligation on a covered claim is limited—it “includes only the amount each covered claim is in excess of two hundred fifty dollars and is less than three hundred thousand dollars.” S.C. Code Ann. § 38-31-60(a)(iv). Thus, where an insurer becomes insolvent after a plaintiff’s claims arise, the Association may be required to pay up to a maximum of \$300,000 “to provide some protection” to the plaintiff. *Brock*, 410 S.C. at 367–68, 764 S.E.2d at 923; *Carolinas Roofing*, 315 S.C. at 557, 446 S.E.2d at 424. \$300,000 is the maximum extent of the Association’s obligation under the Act.

If a plaintiff recovers from other sources, however, that recovery must be set off from the amount of the Association’s obligation. S.C. Code Ann. § 38-31-100. Section 38-31-100(1) provides,

A person, having a claim under an insurance policy, whether or not it is a policy issued by a member insurer, and the claim under such other policy arises from the same facts, injury, or loss that gave rise to the covered claim against the association, is required to first exhaust all coverage and limits provided by any such policy. *Any amount payable on a covered claim under this chapter must be reduced* by the full limits of such other coverage as set forth on the declarations page and the association shall receive a full credit for such limits, or, where there are no applicable limits, the claim must be reduced by the total recovery.

S.C. Code Ann. § 38-31-100(1) (emphasis added). The statutory framework—when read as a whole—is clear that the “amount payable” on a covered claim is the extent of the Association’s obligation, subject to the maximum obligation. The Act limits the Association’s obligation to “only the amount each covered claim . . . is less than [\$300,000].” S.C. Code Ann. § 38-31-60(b). Accordingly, reading the Act as a whole and construing its sections together, the Association can never be required to pay more than \$300,000 on a covered claim, and a person seeking payment from the Association on a covered claim can never recover more than \$300,000. *Anderson*, 397 S.C. at 556, 725 S.E.2d at 707. The “amount payable” on a covered claim, therefore, is limited to a maximum of \$300,000, and any setoff must be applied to the \$300,000 limit rather than total the amount of the covered claim.<sup>2</sup>

Buchanan has argued throughout this litigation that the “amount payable” on a covered claim is the full amount of the covered claim—the total amount of damages in this case—and the setoff therefore applies to that amount. Buchanan’s argument, as adopted by the Court of Appeals, renders the words “amount payable” meaningless and reads the phrase out of the statute. The setoff provision states, “Any *amount payable* on a covered claim under this chapter must be reduced by the full limits of such other coverage as set forth on the declarations page and the association shall receive full credit for such limits.”<sup>3</sup> S.C. Code Ann. § 38-31-100(1) (emphasis added). Under the Court of Appeals’ interpretation, the amount payable on a covered claim is

---

<sup>2</sup> If the amount of damages—or the “covered claim”—is less than the \$300,000, the limit does not apply and the “amount payable” is the full amount of the claim.

<sup>3</sup> Although the offset statute provides that the Association may set off the full policy limits of other coverage—not simply the recovery received under those policies—the parties agreed to limit the Association’s offset to the amounts actually received under those other insurance policies for the purposes of this action and resolution of this issue. (App. 56–66).

equal to the amount of the covered claim. S.C. Code Ann. § 38-31-20(8) (defining a covered claim as “an unpaid claim . . . which arises out of and is within the coverage and is subject to the applicable limits of an insurance policy to which this chapter applies issued by an insurer, if the insurer is an insolvent insurer”).

The Court of Appeals’ interpretation gives no effect to the words “amount payable” in section 38-31-100(1). Instead, the Court of Appeals found the setoff must be applied to the full amount of the covered claim. The plain language of the statute contradicts the Court of Appeals’ opinion. Courts must interpret a statute in a manner that gives effect to all words in the statute, and the General Assembly does not use meaningless or superfluous language in statutes. *CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cty. Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011) (providing appellate courts must read a statute “so ‘that no word, clause, sentence, provision or part shall be rendered surplusage, or superfluous,’ for ‘[t]he General Assembly obviously intended [the statute] to have some efficacy, or the legislature would not have enacted it into law’” (alteration in original) (quoting *State v. Sweat*, 379 S.C. 367, 376, 665 S.E.2d 645, 650 (Ct. App. 2008), *aff’d*, 386 S.C. 339, 688 S.E.2d 569 (2010))).

Contrary to Buchanan’s arguments, the Association is not asking the Court to rewrite section 38-31-100(1). *See* (Return to Pet. for Cert. p. 11). Rather, the Association is asking the Court to give effect to all the words in the statute. If the General Assembly intended the statute to be interpreted in the manner urged by Buchanan and adopted by the Court of Appeals, it would have drafted the statute to provide that “*a covered claim* under this chapter must be reduced by the full limits of such other coverage as set forth on the declarations page and the association shall

receive a full credit for such limits.”<sup>4</sup> The General Assembly instead provided that the “*amount payable* on a covered claim” must be reduced. S.C. Code Ann. § 38-31-100(1) (emphasis added). “Amount payable on a covered claim,” therefore, *must* mean something different than “covered claim.” Thus, Buchanan’s and the Court of Appeals’ interpretation fundamentally alters the meaning of section 38-31-100(1). The plain language of the Act dictates that the amount payable on a covered claim is limited to \$300,000 or less, § 38-31-60(a), and the setoff therefore must be applied to the \$300,000 maximum obligation. Further, this Court has already interpreted the setoff provision in accordance with the Association’s argument: “As a condition precedent to recovery from [the Association], a claimant is required to first exhaust all available coverage from solvent insurers, and [the Association] is allowed to offset the full limits of such other coverage *against its obligations under the Act.*” *Brock*, 410 S.C. at 366, 764 S.E.2d at 922 (emphasis added).

The parties do not dispute that Buchanan may have been able to recover \$800,000 from Aequicap if Aequicap had remained solvent. However, that amount is not payable by the Association, because the Association can never be required to pay more than \$300,000. If a covered claim is greater than \$300,000, the amount payable on that covered claim is \$300,000. Therefore, the starting point for the setoff calculation is the \$300,000 maximum obligation because that is the amount payable on Buchanan’s claim prior to setoff, which defines the extent of the Association’s liability. Because Buchanan has already recovered \$376,622, the entire amount

---

<sup>4</sup> *Cf. Blackwell v. Pa. Ins. Guar. Ass’n*, 567 A.2d 1103, 1106 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1989) (interpreting the same statutory language and arguments and explaining, “If the Legislature had intended the result urged by Blackwell in the present case, they could have easily achieved it by simply stating . . . that ‘a covered claim under this act shall be reduced by the amount of any recovery . . .’ of alternative insurance coverage. This they did not do. Instead, the statute mandates that ‘any amount payable on a covered claim shall be reduced by the amount of any recovery . . .’ of alternative insurance coverage” (alterations in original)).

payable by the Association must be offset, and Buchanan cannot receive any money from the Association.

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