THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM BAMBERG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5424 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 16, 2016) S.C. SUPREME COURT
Appellate Case No. 2016-002156

RECEIVED
NOV 28 2017

Janette Buchanan and Shana Smallwood,
Individually and as Co-Personal Representatives
of the Estate of James S. Buchanan, Respondents,

v.

The South Carolina Property and Casualty
Insurance Guaranty Association, Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Daniel W. Luginbill # 68525
WILSON & LUGINBILL
P.O. Box 1150
Bamberg, SC 29003
(803) 245-7799
(803) 245-0037 (facsimile)
dan@w-lawfirm.com

Blake A. Hewitt # 73674

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

ARGUMENTS

This matter is before the Court on cross-motions for summary judgment and when cross motions for summary judgment are filed the parties concede the issue before the appellate court should be decided as a matter of law. *Wiegand v. U.S. Auto. Ass'n*, 391 S.C. 159, 705 S.E.2d 432 (2011). Also, this is a novel issue in South Carolina. As the Court is aware, it is free to decide the question with no particular deference to the circuit court. *Lambries v. Saluda County Council*, 409 S.C. 1, 760 S.E.2d 785 (2014).

I. The circuit court and the Court of Appeals correctly ruled for Respondents based on the Act's language.

The issue is whether the circuit court erred in granting summary judgment to the Respondents regarding application of the Act's offset and cap provisions. Respondents

contend the Association owes \$300,000, which represents the cap as applied to the balance due Respondents after a setoff for funds already recovered — in this case, \$376,622 — is applied to Respondents’ claim of \$800,000 against Aequicap. The Association contends its obligation is zero because the \$300,000 cap is less than the roughly \$376,000 Respondents have already recovered. The trial court and the Court of Appeals agreed with Respondents. This Court should affirm.

This Court has visited the Act before and has explained:

“All rules of statutory construction are subservient to the one that legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used, and that language must be construed in light of the intended purpose of the statute.” *McClanahan v. Richland Cnty. Council*, 350 S.C. 433, 438, 567 S.E.2d 240, 242 (2002). “What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. Therefore, the courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature.” *Id.* Thus, we must follow the plain and unambiguous language in a statute and have “no right to impose another meaning.” *Id.*

S.C. Property and Cas. Ins. Guar. Ass’n v. Brock, 410 S.C. 361, 366, 764 S.E.2d 920, 922 (2014).

The decisions below correctly read the Act as requiring a ruling in Respondents’ favor. The Act requires the Guaranty Association to pay an amount up to the statutory cap after receiving credit against the total value of a covered claim for any amounts a plaintiff has already received. If the amount of that claim is less than the \$300,000 statutory cap the recovery of other funds could take the Guaranty Association’s responsibility to zero. But where the covered claim exceeds not only the \$300,000 cap but the cap plus all amounts recovered from other sources, the Guaranty Association must

provide coverage up to the statutory cap. That is what the courts ruled here. This Court should affirm.

The Act is found in Chapter 31 of Title 38 of the Code. Section 38-31-20 contains the definitions applicable to the Chapter and provides:

(8) *“Covered claim” means an unpaid claim ... which arises out of and is within the coverage and is subject to the applicable limits of an insurance policy to which this chapter applies issued by an insurer, if the insurer is an insolvent insurer and (a) the claimant or insured is a resident of this State at the time of the insured event, if for entities other than an individual, the residence of a claimant or insured is the state in which its principal place of business is located at the time of the insured event or (b) the claim is for first-party benefits for damage to property permanently located in this State. * * **

Section 38-31-20(8) (emphasis added). There is no dispute that Aequicap is an insolvent insurer and that Respondents are residents of this State.

Respondents’ claim is a “covered claim” under the Act. The claim against Aequicap is “unpaid,” it “arises out of and is within the coverage,” and it “is subject to the applicable limits of an insurance policy to which this chapter applies issued by an insurer,” which was \$1,000,000. See *Brock*, 410 S.C. at 365-368, 764 S.E.2d at 922 (discussing section 38-31-20(8)).

The Act explains the Guaranty Association:

(a) is obligated *to the extent of claims existing before the determination of insolvency* and claims arising up to the earliest of the following dates:

- (i) thirty days after the determination of insolvency;
- (ii) the policy expiration date; or
- (iii) the date the insured replaces or cancels the policy.

(iv) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this chapter, except in the case of a claim for benefits under worker's compensation coverage, any obligation of the association to or on behalf of an insured and its affiliates on all covered claims combined shall cease when ten million dollars shall have been paid in the aggregate by the association and any one or more associations similar to the association of any other state or states, to or on behalf of that insured, its affiliates, and additional insureds on covered claims or allowed claims arising under the policy or policies of any one insolvent insurer. If the association determines that there may be more than one claimant having a covered claim or allowed claim against the association, or any associations similar to the association in other states, under the policy or policies of any one insolvent insurer, the association may establish a plan to allocate amounts payable by the association in such manner as the association in its discretion considers equitable.

This obligation includes only the amount each covered claim is in excess of two hundred fifty dollars *and is less than three hundred thousand dollars.* * * *

Section 38-31-60(a)(iv) (emphasis added). The "covered claim" here is \$800,000 — the amount of the settlement within the limits of Aequicap's policy. That value is "in excess of" \$250. The statute provides the "amount" of the Guaranty Association's "obligation" is capped at \$300,000.

A different section of the same statute provides the Guaranty Association:

(b) is considered the insurer to the extent of its obligation on the covered claims and, to this extent, has all rights, duties, and obligations of the insolvent insurer as if the insurer had not become insolvent. However, the association has the right but not the obligation to defend an insured who is not a resident of this State at the time of the insured event unless the property from which the claim arises is permanently located in this State in which instance the association does have the obligation to defend the insured;

Section 38-31-60(b) (emphasis added). The Guaranty Association steps into Aequicap's shoes "to the extent of its obligation on the covered claims." That obligation is \$800,000 — the overall value of the claim — reduced by any funds already recovered. Again though, the Guaranty Association is limited to a maximum exposure of \$300,000.

Next, the statute provides the Guaranty Association:

(d) shall investigate claims brought against the association and adjust, compromise, settle, and *pay covered claims to the extent of the association's obligation* and deny all other claims and may review settlements, releases, and judgments to which the insolvent insurer or its insureds were parties to determine the extent to which these settlements, releases, and judgments may be properly contested;

Section 38-31-60(d) (emphasis added). Thus, the Guaranty Association must pay a "covered claim," but the "obligation" is limited to \$300,000 for a "covered claim."

The Act then provides that if the Guaranty Association pays on a "covered claim," the insured of the insolvent insurer is deemed to have assigned any right against the assets of the insolvent insurer, including any person affiliated with the insolvent insurer whose liability obligations to other persons are satisfied in whole or in part by payments made by the Guaranty Association. Section § 38-31-90(1) & (2). The Guaranty Association steps into the insured's shoes with regards to recoverable claims against the insolvent insurer and any affiliated individual for whom the Association has covered a loss.

The Act's offset provision provides:

A person, *having a claim under an insurance policy*, whether or not it is a policy issued by a member insurer, *and the claim under such other policy arises from the same facts, injury, or loss that gave rise to the covered claim against the association*, is required to first exhaust all coverage and limits provided by any such policy. Any amount payable on a covered

claim under this chapter must be reduced by the full limits of such other coverage as set forth on the declarations page and the association shall receive a full credit for such limits, or, where there are no applicable limits, *the claim must be reduced by the total recovery*. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no person may be required to exhaust all coverage and limits under the policy of an insolvent insurer.

S.C. Code Ann. § 38-31-100(1) (2015) (emphasis added). Respondents' "claim under an insurance policy" is for \$800,000. Respondents were required to "first exhaust" other coverages, which they have done in the amount of \$376,622. Their "claim under an insurance policy" is then reduced by that total recovery from those other sources, leaving a balance of \$423,378 remaining on the "covered claim" against Aequicap.

Section 38-31-100(1) also provides:

(a) A claim under a policy providing liability coverage to a person who may be jointly and severally liable with or a joint tortfeasor with the person covered under the policy of the insolvent insurer that gives rise to the covered claim must be considered to be a claim arising from the same facts, injury, or loss that gave rise to the covered claim against the association. *Any amount payable on a covered claim* under this chapter must be reduced by the full and combined policy limits of all joint tortfeasors.

(Emphasis added). It is important that the legislature used the term "covered claim," not "obligation." The amount payable on Respondent's "covered claim" is \$800,000, the amount of the settlement. *That* is the amount that must be reduced "by the full and combined policy limits of all joint tortfeasors," which is what was done in this case.

Section 38-31-100(1) next provides:

(b) To the extent that the association's obligation is reduced by the application of this section, *the liability of the person insured by the insolvent insurer's policy for the claim must be reduced in the same amount*.

(Emphasis added). Again, the liability of Aequicap's insured was \$800,000. The liability has been reduced by \$376,622 — the amount of the recovery from the joint tortfeasors and the employer. There remains, however, a covered claim against the people who would have been insured by Aequicap. The amount of that claim is \$423,378.

Section 38-31-100 next provides:

A person having a claim which may be recovered under more than one insurance guaranty association or associations similar to the association must be required first to exhaust all coverage and limits in recovery *from the association of the place of residence of the insured* except that, if it is a first-party claim for damage to property with a permanent location, he shall be required first to exhaust all coverage and limits in recovery from the association of the location of the property, and, if it is a workers' compensation claim, he shall be required first to exhaust all coverage and limits in recovery from the association of the residence of the claimant. Any amount payable on a covered claim under this chapter must be reduced by the full amount of recovery from any other insurance guaranty association or associations similar to the association, and the association shall receive full credit for such recovery.

Section 38-31-100(2) (emphasis added). The insureds under the Aequicap policy (Best and Scott) are residents of South Carolina. (App.pp.19-20, ¶4). Respondents exhausted the applicable workers' compensation coverage which was credited against their covered claim of \$800,000.

The statute finally provides:

A person who has liquidated by settlement or judgment a claim against an insured under a policy issued by an insolvent insurer, and the claim is a covered claim and is also a claim within the coverage of any policy issued by a solvent insurer, must be required first to exhaust all coverage and limits provided under the policy issued by the solvent insurer before execution, levy, or any other proceedings are begun to enforce any judgment obtained against or the settlement with the insured of the insolvent insurer. *Any amount payable on a covered claim* under this chapter, whether through settlement, judgment, or otherwise, must be

reduced by the full limits of such other coverage as set forth on the declarations page of the policy issued by the insolvent insurer.

S.C. Code Ann. § 38-31-100(5) (emphasis added). Respondents have liquidated by settlement their claim against the insureds under Aequicap's policy. The liquidated amount is \$800,000. Respondents' claim was a "covered claim." It was *also* a claim within the coverage of Aequicap's policy; the policy had \$1,000,000 in coverage.

Respondents were required to first exhaust all coverage and limits provided by the solvent insurer, which they have done. The total amount payable under that covered claim was \$800,000. That amount was "reduced by the full limits of such other coverage," which all parties agree is \$376,622. The Guaranty Association must pay \$300,000 because the unpaid covered claim exceeds that amount.

II. This conclusion is bolstered by the Act's purpose of protecting consumers.

The Guaranty Association is a statutory entity designed to provide some protection for the insureds of insolvent insurance companies. *Brock*, 410 S.C. at 367, 764 S.E.2d at 923; *S.C. Prop. & Cas. Ins. Guar. Ass'n v. Carolinas Roofing & Sheet Metal Contractor's Self-Insurers Fund*, 303 S.C. 368, 369, 401 S.E.2d 144, 145 (1991). Its purpose is to provide payment for the covered claims of insolvent insurers. *S.C. Prop. & Cas. Ins. Guar. Ass'n v. Wal-Mart Stores*, 304 S.C. 210, 403 S.E.2d 625 (1991).

This Court's decision in *Brock* explains the operative process. A claimant is required to first exhaust all available coverage from solvent insurers toward the "covered claim." 410 S.C. at 366, 764 S.E.2d at 922. The Guaranty Association is then allowed to offset the full limits of such other coverage against the "covered claim" under the Act.

Id. at 367, 764 S.E.2d at 922-923. Here, Respondents exhausted the available coverage from the solvent insurers and applied those amounts to their covered claim against Aequicap's insured. Once that offset was applied there remained a substantial unsatisfied obligation under the Act. The Guaranty Association is required to pay the difference between the settlement amount (\$800,000) and the offset amount (\$376,622), which is \$423,378 (but capped at \$300,000). This is what happened in *Brock*. See 410 S.C. at 365, 764 S.E.2d at 922 (the Guaranty Association paid "the difference between the settlement amount (\$185,000) and the offset amount (\$93,090.45).").

That is what these statutes plainly say, and that is how the trial court applied them. This should end the inquiry.

III. The Guaranty Association's argument is not faithful to the Act's language, its purpose, or to this Court's precedent.

The Guaranty Association's arguments are not faithful to the Act's language, its purpose, or to this Court's precedents.

a. The Act's language and the relevant precedents.

The Guaranty Association reads the words "covered claim" to mean the Guaranty Association's "net obligation," but those words do not appear in the statute. As pointed out above, the "covered claim" means a claim covered under the policy of the insolvent insurer, and it is against *that* amount that the offsets are to be taken. Section 38-31-100(1) provides "the amount payable on a *covered claim*" is reduced by sums already recovered. The statute does not say to reduce the amount of the Guaranty Association's "obligation under the Act" or "obligation to pay the claim." The Guaranty Association

essentially asks the Court to rewrite Section 38-31-100(1), but amending this statute is the province of the legislature, not the Court. *American Petroleum Institute v. SC Dep't of Rev.*, 382 S.C. 572, 579, 677 S.E.2d 16, 20 (2009) (“it is not the province of [the] Court to perform legislative functions.”).

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